### Guidelines for UK practice for the diagnosis and management of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infections presenting in the community

Dilip Nathwani<sup>1\*</sup>, Marina Morgan<sup>2</sup>, Robert G. Masterton<sup>3</sup>, Matthew Dryden<sup>4</sup>, Barry D. Cookson<sup>5</sup>, Gary French<sup>6</sup> and Deirdre Lewis<sup>7</sup> on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy Working Party on Community-onset MRSA Infections

<sup>1</sup>Infection Unit, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee DD1 9SY, UK; <sup>2</sup>Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust, Exeter EX2 5DW, UK; <sup>3</sup>Lothian University Hospitals NHS Trust, Edinburgh EH3 9YW, UK; <sup>4</sup>Royal Hampshire County Hospital, Winchester SO22 5DG, UK; <sup>5</sup>Laboratory of Healthcare-Associated Infection, HPA Centre for Infections, London 9W9 5HT, UK; <sup>6</sup>St Thomas' Hospital, Kings' College, London SE1 7EH, UK; <sup>7</sup>HPA Southwest, Stonehouse, Gloucester GL10 3RF, UK

These guidelines have been developed by a Working Party convened on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. Their aim is to provide general practitioners and other communityand hospital-based healthcare professionals with pragmatic advice about when to suspect MRSA infection in the community, when and what cultures should be performed and what should be the management options, including the need for hospitalization.

Keywords: community onset, case scenarios, MRSA infection, diagnosis, management

#### Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Background and definitions
  - 2.1 Definitions
    - 2.1.1 MRSA (methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*)
    - 2.1.2 CA-MRSA (community-associated MRSA)
    - 2.1.3 HA-MRSA (healthcare-associated MRSA)
- 3. Guideline remit
- 4. Guideline development and methodology
- 5. General principles of diagnosis and management
  - 5.1 Clinical assessment
  - 5.2 Laboratory investigation
    - 5.2.1 Clinical samples
    - 5.2.2 Testing for PVL
    - 5.2.3 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing
- 6. Clinical case scenarios
  - 6.1 Community-associated and community-onset MRSA skin and soft tissue infection
    - 6.1.1 What is the likely clinical diagnosis?

6.1.2 When to suspect PVL+ CA-MRSA

- 6.1.2.1 Clinical presentation
  - 6.1.2.2 Treatment factors
  - 6.1.2.3 Other risk factors
  - 6.1.2.4 Prevalence of CA-MRSA
- 6.1.3 When should specimens be sent for culture?
- 6.1.4 When should specimens for culture not be taken?
- 6.1.5 Treatment principles
- 6.1.6 Empirical antibiotic therapy

6.2 Community-associated and community-onset pneumonia suspected to be due to PVL-producing MRSA6.2.1 What is the likely clinical diagnosis?6.2.2 When to suspect PVL+ CA-MRSA

- 2 when to suspect FVL+ CA-WKS
  - 6.2.2.1 Clinical presentation
  - 6.2.2.2 Treatment factors 6.2.2.3 Other risk factors
  - 6.2.2.4 Prevalence of CA-MRSA

6.2.3 When should specimens be sent for culture?6.2.4 Radiological investigation

\*Corresponding author. Tel: +44-1382-660111; Fax: +44-1382-816178; E-mail: dilip.nathwani@nhs.net

976

© The Author 2008. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. All rights reserved. For Permissions, please e-mail: journals.permissions@oxfordjournals.org

- 6.2.5 Treatment principles
- 6.2.6 Empirical antibiotic therapy
- 6.2.7 Adjunctive therapy options
  - 6.2.7.1 Immunoglobulin therapy (IVIG) 6.2.7.2 Other adjunctive therapy
- 6.3 Healthcare-associated community-onset MRSA skin and soft tissue infection
  - 6.3.1 What is the likely clinical diagnosis?
  - 6.3.2 When to suspect HA-MRSA
    - 6.3.2.1 Clinical presentation 6.3.2.2 Risk factors
  - 6.3.3 When should specimens be sent for culture?
  - 6.3.4 Treatment principles
  - 6.3.5 Empirical antibiotic therapy



This guidance aims to complement existing guidance on prevention and treatment of infections caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and focuses on typical common and less common community-onset infections with an emphasis on community-associated MRSA (CA-MRSA). An important issue covered by these guidelines is the management of serious infection caused by MRSA arising in the community. Although such infections are rare at present, they usually affect young, previously healthy people and may have a rapid and devastating course. Specific guidance is given on the management of staphylococcal pneumonia, although other serious manifestations of these infections are emerging. Serious S. aureus infections can be caused by strains that are methicillin-resistant or -susceptible and which may or may not express the pathogenic Panton-Valentine leucocidin (PVL) toxin. The role of the general practitioner (GP) is to recognize that the patient is seriously unwell and needs to be managed in hospital (see Section 6, Appendix 1 and the algorithm in Figure 1).

A summary of the commonest MRSA clinical problems [skin and soft tissue infections (SSTIs); serious and deep seated infections] presenting to GPs and guidance on their treatment is presented in Appendix 1. Practical advice on the isolation of MRSA in the urine is also provided in the Appendix but not covered in the main body of the guidelines because the evidence base for the management of this situation is poor. The recommendations could be implemented, for example, by their integration into new or existing care pathways.

Guidelines on various aspects of the management and control of MRSA are available and are revised regularly.

- This guidance is for the diagnosis and management of MRSA infections that arise in the community. Much of this is relevant to GPs.
- Guidance for the control of MRSA in healthcare facilities is given by Coia *et al.*<sup>1</sup>
- Laboratory diagnosis of MRSA is discussed by Brown *et al.*<sup>2</sup>
- Revision of previous interim guidance on the diagnosis and management of infection due to PVL-producing



Figure 1. PVL-related disease: microbiology algorithm.

staphylococci is currently undergoing consultation.<sup>3</sup> Whether to decolonize infected patients or screen and decolonize contacts if positive is a key issue that is discussed in the PVL guidance<sup>4</sup> and will not be repeated here. However, the evidence base supporting many of the recommendations related to screening and decolonization is poor and worthy of further investigation.

• Antibiotic treatment of MRSA in general is discussed by Gemmell *et al.*<sup>4</sup> This guidance is currently being revised.

All of these documents can be accessed via the Health Protection Agency (HPA) web site. $^{5}$ 

#### 2. Background and definitions

*S. aureus* is the major bacterial cause of skin, soft tissue and bone infections, and one of the commonest causes of healthcare-associated bacteraemia. About one-quarter of healthy people carry one or more strains asymptomatically at any given time and infections are commonly endogenous being caused by the patient's colonizing strain.<sup>6</sup> Antibiotics and surgical drainage are the basis of treatment of staphylococcal infections, but the emergence of multiple resistance to penicillin, methicillin and other agents has compromised therapy. Methicillin resistance was first detected in *S. aureus* in 1961,<sup>7</sup> shortly after the agent was introduced clinically, and over the last four decades, there has been a global epidemic of MRSA.<sup>8,9</sup>

MRSA is usually acquired during exposure to hospitals and other healthcare facilities, and causes a variety of serious healthcare-associated infections. A number of UK and USA guidelines have been produced on the prevention, control, diagnosis and treatment of MRSA infections in hospitals and other healthcare facilities.<sup>2,10–12</sup> However, there has been an increase in MRSA infections presenting in the community that has not been properly addressed by existing guidelines.<sup>4</sup>

Many (and in the UK at the present time, most) MRSA infections that appear to have a community onset occur in patients who are found to have had direct or indirect contact with hospitals, care homes or other healthcare facilities.<sup>13,14</sup> These MRSA strains are typical of the local healthcare-associated MRSA (HA-MRSA) and may be carried asymptomatically by patients for months after discharge. However, new strains of MRSA have recently emerged that cause infections in community patients who have no previous history of direct or indirect healthcare contact. These strains have been designated CA-MRSA.<sup>15</sup> CA-MRSA strains are genetically and phenotypically distinct from HA-MRSA. They typically resemble some strains of methicillin-susceptible S. aureus (MSSA) in being susceptible to a wider range of anti-staphylococcal antibiotics (some are resistant only to  $\beta$ -lactams), and often produce PVL, a toxin that destroys white blood cells and is a staphylococcal virulence factor.<sup>16,17</sup> Differences between CA- and HA-MRSA are summarized in Table 1. PVL-producing strains of CA-MRSA appear to be associated with increased risk of transmission, complications and hospitalization. For example, in one large community outbreak of CA-MRSA, 23% of patients required hospitalization.<sup>18</sup> PVL has a clear role in the pathogenesis of severe necrotizing pneumonia<sup>17,19,20</sup> and is associated with greater pulmonary and bone-related complications. Its role in skin infections is less certain, although PVL is a potent dermatonecrotic toxin.<sup>21</sup>

In the UK, the overall prevalence of *S. aureus* strains that carry the gene for PVL production is believed to be <2%, and these are mainly MSSA.<sup>22</sup> Although the overall prevalence of CA-MRSA is also presently low worldwide (thought to be <0.5% of all MRSA),<sup>23</sup> there is clear evidence that this is

increasing, particularly in the USA, Canada and Australia. In some areas of the USA, a significant proportion of serious *S. aureus* infections presenting in community practice or at accident and emergency departments is now due to CA-MRSA types.<sup>15,24–26</sup> There are also emerging reports of CA-MRSA from Europe, including Scandinavian countries that have, until now, been almost free of HA-MRSA.<sup>27–30</sup> There have been relatively few reports of CA-MRSA from the UK,<sup>31–33</sup> but experience elsewhere suggests that these are likely to increase in the future.

The Department of Health asked the HPA to lead in the production of guidance for PVL-related disease.<sup>3</sup> In 2007, the Specialist Advisory Committee on Antimicrobial Resistance also identified the need to produce some specific guidance around diagnosis and treatment of infections caused by PVL-positive The British Society of Antimicrobial staphylococci. Chemotherapy (BSAC) on the other hand independently wished to consider producing guidance with the broader remit of diagnosis and management of community-onset MRSA including infections acquired in the healthcare setting but which would include PVL-related disease. HPA members with expertise in this area were included in the BSAC Working Party and this guidance recognizes HPA and other related guidance where appropriate. It is hoped that this will raise general awareness about the epidemiology and pathological significance of CA-MRSA. It is hoped that the early implementation of effective diagnosis, management, prevention and control of these new infections will prevent some of the present difficulties with HA-MRSA<sup>34</sup> developing with CA-MRSA.

#### 2.1 Definitions

The internationally agreed definitions of HA-MRSA, CA-MRSA and other *S. aureus* strains and their limitations are given below.<sup>35</sup> The definitions were originally based on

Parameter	HA-MRSA	CA-MRSA
Typical patient	elderly, debilitated and/or critically or chronically ill	young, healthy people; students, professional athletes and military service personnel
Infection site	often bacteraemia with no obvious infection focus. Also surgical wounds, open ulcers, IV lines and catheter urines. May cause ventilator associated pneumonia	predilection for skin and soft tissue, producing cellulitis and abscesses. May cause necrotising community acquired pneumonia, septic shock or bone and joint infections
Transmission	within healthcare settings; little spread among household contacts	community-acquired. May spread in families and sports teams
Clinical setting of diagnosis	in an inpatient setting, but increasingly HA-MRSA infections in soft tissue and urine are occurring in primary care	in an outpatient or community setting
Medical history	history of MRSA colonization, infection, recent surgery; admission to a hospital or nursing home, antibiotic use; dialysis, permanent indwelling catheter	no significant medical history or healthcare contact
Virulence of infecting strain	community spread is limited, PVL genes usually absent	community spread occurs easily. PVL genes often present, predisposing to necrotising soft tissue or lung infection
Antibiotic susceptibility	often multiresistant with result that choice of agents often very limited	generally susceptible to more antibiotics than HA-MRSA

Table 1.	HA-MRSA	versus	CA-MRSA
----------	---------	--------	---------

epidemiological features but, for the reasons outlined below, microbiological characteristics are now also important.

#### 2.1.1 MRSA (methicillin-resistant S. aureus)

. Strains of *S. aureus* that are resistant to the isoxazoyl penicillins such as methicillin, oxacillin and flucloxacillin. MRSA are cross-resistant to all currently licensed  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics.

#### 2.1.2 CA-MRSA (community-associated MRSA)

. MRSA strains isolated from patients in an outpatient or community setting (community onset), or within 48 h of hospital admission (hospital onset). Patients also typically have no previous history of MRSA infection or colonization, hospitalization, surgery, dialysis or residence in a long-term care facility within the previous year, and absence of indwelling catheters or percutaneous devices at the time of culture (Table 2).

#### 2.1.3 HA-MRSA (healthcare-associated MRSA)

. MRSA strains that are transmitted to and circulate between individuals who have had contact with healthcare facilities. These infections can present in the hospital or healthcare setting (hospital or healthcare onset) or in the community (community onset), for example after hospital discharge.

However, the boundaries between HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA are becoming blurred due to the movement of patients and infections between hospitals and the community, and to nosocomial outbreaks of CA-MRSA following admission of colonized or infected patients.<sup>36</sup> In the USA, where CA-MRSA is now common, it is becoming increasingly difficult to distinguish between CA- and HA-MRSA on clinical and epidemiological grounds.<sup>37</sup> Since HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA strains are often genotypically and phenotypically different (Table 1), the microbiological characteristics of the *S. aureus* isolates may help distinguish between HA- and CA-infections.

#### 3. Guideline remit

This guideline provides recommendations based on evidence obtained from existing guidance on best practice in the

**Table 2.** Populations at increased risk of community-associated MRSA (adapted from references 20, 32–34 and 38)

Risk groups

Children <2 years old Athletes (mainly contact-sport participants) Injection drug users Men who have sex with men Military personnel Inmates of correctional facilities, residential homes or shelters Vets, pet owners and pig farmers Patients with post-flu-like illness and/or severe pneumonia Patients with concurrent SSTI History of colonization or recent infection with CA-MRSA History of antibiotic consumption in the previous year, particularly quinolones or macrolides *principles of diagnosis and management* of MRSA infections in the community. Infection prevention guidance is kept to a minimum as other guidance exists in this area. Our guidance covers:

- (1) Patients whose infections were acquired in the hospital but who present in the community (hospital or healthcare-associated and community-onset MRSA infections). This is the commonest MRSA-related community problem in the UK. GPs may expect to encounter this on a daily basis in patients who are chronically ill, elderly, diabetic with open skin lesions, have had recent surgery or in patients who are regular hospital attendees.
- (2) Infections acquired in the community in patients with no hospital contact or other related risk factors. These may present in the community (community-associated and community-onset, for example the skin infection or pneumonia scenarios) or, rarely, in hospital (community-associated and hospital-onset).

Infections due to hospital or healthcare-associated *S. aureus* strains presenting in hospital (hospital-onset and hospital-acquired) are excluded, since they are already covered in disease-specific guidance (e.g. ventilator-associated pneumonia, endocarditis, surgical site infection). The guidance on antimicrobial treatment and prophylaxis of MRSA infections produced by the Joint Working Party of the BSAC, the Hospital Infection Society and the Infection Control Nurses Association<sup>4</sup> is due to be updated in 2008.

The Working Party recognizes that in the UK, PVL toxinproducing staphylococci are presently uncommon and when they cause infection they are more frequently MSSA. Interim guidance for the diagnosis and management of PVL-associated *S. aureus* infections in the UK has been published by a group convened by the HPA.<sup>3</sup> However, in light of the global emergence of severe infections and outbreaks due to PVL-producing CA-MRSA,<sup>38</sup> infections with PVL-producing MRSA in the UK are likely to increase.

#### 4. Guideline development and methodology

The Working Party was convened under the auspices of the BSAC and comprised microbiologists, an infectious disease physician and public health physicians, all of whom had an interest in MRSA infections and had previous experience in guideline development. Advice regarding guideline format and content from a GP and nurse were sought prior to guideline development.

The Working Party adopted a 'common clinical scenario' approach to the diagnosis and recognition of these infections which they hope will be useful for the community practitioner and broader healthcare team. The evidence base for the guidance in these scenarios has been provided by a systematic appraisal of existing guidelines or consensus documents using the approach developed by the ADAPTE Group.<sup>39</sup> This adaptation process involves six steps: (1) searching for existing guidelines; (2) assessment of guideline quality; (3) assessment of applicability and adaptation of recommendations to target setting; (4) literature update; (5) adaptation of guideline format;

and (6) implementation. We felt that this was more appropriate than a new systematic literature review, since recent guidelines from Canada<sup>40</sup> included a thorough systematic review of much of the relevant CA-MRSA literature. Furthermore, other guidance on community-onset healthcare-acquired MRSA exists but is not presented in the context of 'a community onset' infection.

The levels of evidence and the strength of recommendations were categorized using the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) evidence statements and grades of recommendations (SIGN Guideline 50-a guideline developers' handbook at www.sign.ac.uk), the details of which are shown in Tables S1 and S2 [Supplementary data available at JAC Online (http://jac. oxfordjournals.org/)]. On occasion, guideline development groups find that there is an important practical point that they wish to emphasize but for which there is not, nor is there likely to be, any research evidence. This will typically be where some aspect of treatment is regarded as being of such sound clinical practice that nobody is likely to question it. These are marked in the guideline as Good Practice Points, and are indicated by the acronym 'GPP'. It must be emphasized that these are not an alternative to evidence-based recommendations and have only been used where there was no alternative means of highlighting the issue.

An English language only literature search was undertaken for existing guidance related to clinical presentation, diagnosis and treatment of CA-MRSA infection with particular reference to SSTIs and pneumonia. We searched Medline and Google/ Google Scholar as well as the various guideline databases with the following keywords: 'community-acquired or -onset S. aureus', 'Panton-Valentine Leucocidin' and 'methicillinresistant S. aureus'. The following guideline databases were searched in detail: Guideline International Network, National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, National Guideline Clearing, SIGN, as well as a recent Canadian guideline.<sup>40</sup> This was deemed sufficiently important to be worthy of more detailed appraisal using the AGREE instrument.41 The scope and purpose of the Canadian guideline, stakeholder involvement, clarity and presentation were judged to be of good quality, although the guideline provided few support tools for its application. However, the rigour of development was judged moderate to poor because there was no consistent explicit linking of the evidence to the recommendation, no tables of evidence, no supporting evidence for many recommendations, references were often missing and there were no details of how consensus statements were developed for many of the statements. The basis for the Canadian guidelines' recommendations and strength of evidence was less explicit than with the SIGN methodology and more generous in making high-level or strong recommendations based on grade 3 evidence (such as expert opinion, case studies and so on). Other weaknesses include failure to identify the applicability of the guideline to an organization or healthcare system, no appreciation or mention of potential cost implications of the guideline and no criteria for monitoring quality improvement. The guideline group appeared to have editorial independence although there were no conflict of interest statements. We have attempted to address some of these weaknesses in the present guidance.

The other documents looked at included other published reviews of the subject.<sup>15,42</sup> Zetola *et al.*<sup>15</sup> were particularly thorough in defining search strategy and selection criteria, and included papers in Spanish. There were also statements from

governmental and regional expert groups.<sup>43,44</sup> Although none of these documents gave evidence of a systematic process of producing evidence-based recommendations, they provided useful information for some areas of our guidance. Most of our recommendations based on existing guidance, primarily the Canadian guidelines, were SIGN grade D and arose from evidence in non-controlled studies and expert opinion. Only in a few cases did evidence come from the results of case–control or cohort studies, reflecting the evolving nature of the disease. In many areas, our recommendations are simply recommendations for good medical practice and reflect the experience and opinions of the Working Party.

The Working Party assessed all the contributions and agreed on the key recommendations before submitting the draft for external peer review. Changes suggested by the external review were incorporated before finalizing its adoption, endorsement and implementation. The BSAC agreed that this guideline would be developed in close collaboration and consultation with a Working Group of the HPA which was revising guidance on PVL-associated staphylococcal infections in England. Other stakeholders are the Royal College of Nursing, the Infection Prevention Society (formerly the Infection Control Nurses Association), the Hospital Infection Society, the British Infection Society, the Royal College of General Practitioners, the Royal College of Physicians, the Royal College of Surgeons, the College of Emergency Medicine, the Royal College of Paediatricians and the UK Pharmacy Association.

#### 5. General principles of diagnosis and management

#### 5.1 Clinical assessment

When presented with a patient in the community who the clinician thinks may have a staphylococcal infection, the decisionmaking process related to diagnosis and treatment includes answering the following questions:

- (1) What is the severity of illness?
- (2) Is distinction between MSSA or MRSA infection possible?
- (3) If MRSA is suspected, is it likely to be CA-MRSA or HA-MRSA?
- (4) Should further microbiological assessment/investigation be undertaken and, if so, how?
- (5) Does empirical antibiotic therapy (or definitive therapy if microbiology results are available) need to be started?
- (6) Does adjunct therapy (for example surgical drainage) need to be considered?
- (7) Does the patient need to be admitted to hospital?
- (8) What advice should be given to direct contacts and household members?

This clinical risk-assessment is detailed for each of the 'typical' clinical scenarios below. Many factors in these risk-assessments are similar for all the scenarios, including distinguishing between CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA strains (Table 1) and risk factors for CA-MRSA based on clinical, epidemiological, laboratory and treatment factors (Tables 1 and 2). The predictive value of these risk factors for distinguishing between different strains, healthcare associated as opposed to

community associated, is poor. Nevertheless, the scenarios presented provide guidance for best practice.

#### 5.2 Laboratory investigation

Because of the changing epidemiology of community-onset MRSA and the need to optimize antibiotic therapy, clinical samples should be sent for microbiological testing.

#### 5.2.1 Clinical samples

. Appropriate clinical samples (e.g. pus, swabs from lesions, sputa etc.) from suspected cases should be submitted to the local microbiology department for analysis. Accident and emergency staff, GPs and other healthcare practitioners should be alerted to the importance of taking specimens when incising and draining abscesses. Samples should be cultured on non-selective media (e.g. blood agar) for the recovery of potential pathogens, including *S. aureus*.

#### 5.2.2 Testing for PVL

Genes encoding PVL may be carried by both MSSA and MRSA. PVL-positive MSSA display variable antimicrobial susceptibility profiles, whereas the majority of PVL-positive MRSA currently found in the UK are susceptible to ciprofloxacin.<sup>45</sup> *S. aureus* (MSSA or ciprofloxacin-susceptible MRSA) recovered from suspected cases should be referred to the HPA Staphylococcus Reference Laboratory for toxin gene profiling including PVL testing. This is a PCR-based assay that can be completed within a working day. Figure 1 is a suggested algorithm.

#### 5.2.3 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

This should be performed by the laboratory's routine methods. However, if the organism is erythromycin-resistant by disc testing, inducible clindamycin resistance should be tested for by the D-zone test, which involves placement of erythromycin and clindamycin discs in close proximity on an agar plate inoculated with a standardized suspension of the isolate. Flattening of the clindamycin zone of inhibition in the area between the two discs (resulting in a D-shaped zone of inhibition) indicates the presence of inducible clindamycin resistance in the presence of erythromycin resistance (positive D-zone test).

#### 6. Clinical case scenarios

In the following section, three case scenarios are presented. The key questions related to clinical assessment are presented and guidance in the form of **recommendations** (in bold) are provided. Additional guidance is provided on isolation of MRSA in the urine.

## 6.1 Community-associated and community-onset MRSA skin and soft tissue infection

A 14-year-old school boy with a skin infection is brought by his mother to their GP. He is not systemically unwell but has a red, tender, fluctuant discharging skin lesion over his thigh. There is a moderate amount of surrounding erythema. It has not responded to topical antiseptic cream. He gives a history of three previous 'skin infections' over the last year, treated with several courses of oral antibiotics. The current infection appears to have been precipitated by a 'minor' injury to his thigh during football at school.

#### 6.1.1 What is the likely clinical diagnosis?

The clinical diagnosis of an SSTI presenting as an abscess is straightforward. Pain, tenderness, erythema and swelling are common in SSTIs and offer around a 93% to 97% sensitivity (95% CI 83–100) in the clinical diagnosis of cellulites.<sup>46</sup> The most likely microbial cause of this is *S. aureus*, although pyogenic streptococci (e.g.  $\beta$ -haemolytic streptococci such as *Streptococcus pyogenes*, and group C or G streptococci) are other possibilities.

#### 6.1.2 When to suspect PVL+ CA-MRSA (currently rare)

*6.1.2.1 Clinical presentation.* The spectrum of disease caused by CA-MRSA appears to be similar to that caused by CA-MSSA. Furuncles (abscesses in hair follicles, or 'boils'), carbuncles (coalesced masses of furuncles with deeper tissue involvement) and other abscesses appear to be the most frequently reported clinical manifestations. They may or may not have accompanying cellulitis. Erythematous papules and nodules, folliculitis and/or impetigo are less common presentations.

One specific presentation appears to be typical of cutaneous CA-MRSA infections. This is the spontaneous appearance of a raised tender red lesion, which may progress to develop a necrotic centre. This may lead to the suspicion of a 'spider bite' where such occurrences are common, e.g. North America or Australia. Most reports of such lesions have come from the USA and have not been as frequently reported from other countries. In the UK, where spider bites are rare, these 'dermatonecrotic' lesions increase the likelihood of a diagnosis of CA-MRSA but are not pathognomic. They can also be found in infections due to PVL-positive MSSA strains.

#### **Recommendation 1**

• If 'spider bite' lesions are present, the possibility of CA-MRSA or PVL-positive MSSA infection should be considered and appropriate investigation and management instituted. [D<sup>3</sup>].

Many other severe cutaneous complications of CA-MRSA have been reported and include extensive cellulitis, necrotizing fasciitis and purpura fulminans.<sup>47</sup> Involvement of adjacent structures, either by direct spread or bacteraemia, such as septic thrombophlebitis, pyomyositis, septic arthritis and osteomyelitis, has all been described.<sup>15,40,42</sup> No particular patterns of clinical presentation have yet emerged to allow differentiation from MSSA infections.

Anecdotal reports suggest that recurrent (two or more in 6 months) furuncles or abscesses, or clusters of infections within a household may indicate PVL-positive CA-MRSA. [D<sup>3</sup>]. However, this pattern can also be seen in PVL-positive MSSA infections.

#### **Recommendation 2**

• If there is a history of recurrent abscesses or household clusters of infection, the possibility of CA-MRSA or PVL-positive MSSA infection should be considered and appropriate investigation and management instituted. [D<sup>3</sup>].

6.1.2.2 Treatment factors. In the absence of an undrained abscess or focus of infection, a poor response to existing therapy (which in most cases will be an isoxazole penicillin such as fluclox-acillin) increases the likelihood of CA-MRSA infection  $[D^3]$ .

**Recommendation 3** 

 If there has been a prior poor response to β-lactam therapy, the possibility of CA-MRSA or PVL-positive MSSA infection should be considered and appropriate investigation and management instituted. [D<sup>3</sup>].

Exposure to one or more antibiotics in the past year (as opposed to no use) and use of quinolones or macrolides are potential treatment-related risk factors for CA-MRSA infection.  $[D^2]$ .

In a large English case-control study, there was a significant relationship between exposure to increasing numbers of antibiotics and diagnosis of CA-MRSA. This paper made no distinction related to the PVL status of these organisms. For exposure to 1, 2-3 or >4 antibiotics in the previous year, the odds ratios (ORs) were, respectively, 1.57 (CI 1.36-1.80), 2.46 (CI 2.15-2.83) and 6.24 (CI 5.43-7.17). Receipt of quinolones [OR 3.37 (CI 2.80-4.09)] and macrolides [OR 2.50 (CI 2.14-2.91)] in the previous year was specific associations.<sup>48</sup> However, it is not clear in this study whether these cases were due to PVL-positive or -negative strains of S. aureus. In another large prospective study of adult patients in the USA with SSTIs presenting to the emergency department, results of a multi-regression analyses showed that use of an antibiotic in the past month (as opposed to no use) had a 2.4-fold (95% CI 1.4-4.3) greater risk of infection with CA-MRSA.24

#### **Recommendation 4**

• If there is a history of exposure to one or more antibiotics in the past year, especially quinolones or macrolides, the possibility of CA-MRSA infection should be considered and appropriate investigation and management instituted. [D<sup>2</sup>].

6.1.2.3 Other risk factors. A recent prospective USA cohort study found that clinical and epidemiological risk factors in persons hospitalized for CA-MRSA infection cannot distinguish reliably between MRSA and MSSA.<sup>37</sup> Indeed, in this study, *post hoc* modelling revealed that in a country where the prevalence of MRSA in the community is <10%, as is presently the case in the UK, patients lacking the three strongest risk factors would only have a 7% post-test probability of MRSA. In another prospective prevalence study of MRSA infections among patients in the emergency department, the presence or absence of these clinical and epidemiological risk factors was not useful in guiding decisions about the use of antibiotic therapy. Most patients without MRSA had at least one of these risk factors,

and almost half of those without any of these factors were found to have  $\mbox{MRSA.}^{24}$ 

CA-MRSA has been linked to the specific risk factors outlined in Table 2. However, the value of these risk factors in differentiating between MRSA and MSSA and predicting successful antimicrobial therapy is uncertain and currently should not be relied upon.  $[C^{2-}]$ . In UK practice, many of these risk factors are probably not relevant, except for (1) history of travel to an endemic area such as North America and (2) recent colonization or contact with CA-MRSA.

#### **Recommendation 5**

• If any of the risk factors outlined in Table 2 are present, especially recent travel to an endemic area such as North America and recent colonization or contact with CA-MRSA, the possibility of CA-MRSA infection should be considered and appropriate investigation and management instituted. [C<sup>2-</sup>].

6.1.2.4 Prevalence of CA-MRSA. The threshold where the prevalence of CA-MRSA in the community becomes an important consideration in determining the choice of initial empirical antibiotic therapy is uncertain. In the UK, the prevalence of CA-MRSA infection is very low or unknown. Although there is evidence of emerging PVL-related infection in certain parts of the country, prevalence of infection or colonization on its own currently cannot be regarded as a reliable indicator of the likelihood of MRSA infection in an individual patient and therefore is not a guide to antibiotic choice. [GPP].

#### **Recommendation 6**

• Because the prevalence of CA-MRSA in the UK is presently very low, suspected community staphylococcal infections should not be treated as if they were CA-MRSA in the absence of significant specific risk factors. This is an evolving situation and the local prevalence of CA-MRSA should be monitored and advice modified as necessary.

#### 6.1.3 When should specimens be sent for culture?

#### **Recommendation 7**

- Cultures should be taken from septic sites if:
- (1) CA-MRSA is suspected because of the risk assessment based on clinical presentation, treatment factors and other risk factors outlined in Tables 1 and 2. [D<sup>3</sup>].
- (2) There are recurrent furuncles or abscesses (two or more in 6 months). [D<sup>3</sup>].
- (3) There is a history of spread in the family or to others, e.g. sporting contacts (the information may be available from the public health/infection control team). [D<sup>4</sup>].
- (4) If there is severe infection (extensive or progressive disease with evidence of systemic sepsis), the patient should be hospitalized and a skin/abscess culture and blood culture should be taken. [GPP].

#### Review

Cultures will determine the prevalence of these infections in a particular setting or community and will allow appropriate . rationalization of antibiotic treatment.

#### 6.1.4 When should specimens for culture not be taken?

#### **Recommendation 8**

- Do not take cultures routinely from patients presenting with minor SSTIs and without a history of previous MRSA. [D<sup>4</sup>].
- Do not routinely aspirate material for culture from cellulitis in the absence of discharge or broken skin. [GPP].

#### 6.1.5 Treatment principles

#### **Recommendation 9A**

- Do not give systemic antibiotics to patients with minor SSTIs or small abscesses (<5 cm). [D<sup>3</sup>].
- Incise and drain small abscesses without cellulitis and do not give antibiotic therapy.  $[A^{1-}]$ .
- After incision and drainage start empirical or cultureguided systemic antibiotic therapy for larger abscesses or if there are infections in other family members. [D<sup>3</sup>].

#### **Recommendation 9B**

• Guidance regarding topical antibiotic treatment, decolonization and screening is beyond the remit of this guideline although the group recommend that existing evidence for need and effectiveness is poor. For further information, refer to guidance provided by the HPA.<sup>3</sup>

A recent randomized controlled trial, in a single centre with large numbers of injecting drug users, compared treatment with cefalexin, which lacks activity against MRSA, with placebo in 166 adult patients who had surgically drained abscesses. Although MRSA was isolated from most patients, more than 85% of patients in both arms were cured without the need for additional therapy at a 1 week follow-up visit, suggesting that most of these infections resolve without antimicrobial therapy.<sup>49</sup> Another prospective study of otherwise healthy children with skin and soft tissue abscesses concluded that incision and drainage of CA-MRSA abscesses with a diameter of less than a 5 cm without antibiotics was adequate.<sup>50</sup> However, these findings should be balanced by reports of recurrence or worsening of infections not treated with systemic antibiotics effective against MRSA.<sup>51</sup>

#### **Recommendation 9C**

- In compromised patients or those with severe disease, give systemic antibiotic therapy based on clinical assessment and local susceptibilities of strains while awaiting definitive susceptibility results. [GPP].
- Ensure that empirical treatment also provides cover against *S. pyogenes*. [GPP]. Oral flucloxacillin and clindamycin have activity against *S. pyogenes*, whereas tetracycline and trimethoprim often do not.

#### 6.1.6 Empirical antibiotic therapy

There is conflicting evidence that inappropriate empirical therapy for SSTIs at the time of initial clinical presentation leads to an inferior outcome. Four studies<sup>18,24,50,51</sup> compared susceptibility of the pathogen to the prescribed antimicrobial agent with clinical outcome. The patients involved mainly had abscesses. There was no difference in outcomes, suggesting that these infections, even when caused by MRSA, can be cured with drainage only. However, in one recent retrospective analysis of the impact of antimicrobial therapy on outcome for uncomplicated communityonset SSTIs, there was a small but significant (OR 2.80; 95% CI 1.26–6.22; P = 0.01) increase in treatment failures (defined as worsening of signs of infection, requiring additional incision and drainage, subsequent hospital admission, microbiological failure or new culture proven lesions during antimicrobial therapy), in those who received initial therapy with agents ineffective in vitro.52 Use of ineffective agents was the only independent predictor of treatment failure in multivariate analysis.

The discrepancy between the results in this study and those of previous reports could be due to a variety of reasons. They include: the larger size of the study population,<sup>52</sup> which may be more likely to detect a true difference in outcome compared with smaller studies; different patient populations, such as adults from one healthcare system compared with children from another; and differences in underlying health status.<sup>53</sup> Furthermore, since most of these patients had non-lifethreatening cutaneous infections, it is difficult to extrapolate these data to more severe infections. Additional support for empirical therapy that is active against the isolated pathogen comes from a retrospective chart review of 399 sequential, culture-confirmed community-onset S. aureus SSTIs, of which 227 were due to MRSA. Use of an effective agent in empirical therapy was associated with an increased odds ratio [OR 5.91 (95% CI 3.14-11.13)] of clinical resolution when controlled for incision, drainage and HIV status.<sup>54</sup> This study confirmed the effectiveness of trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole as the empirical therapy in this setting. A further prospective randomized trial of empirical therapy of trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole or doxycycline for outpatient SSTIs in an area of high MRSA prevalence showed the equivalent effectiveness of either therapy, although the treatment failure rates were 9% in the trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole arm compared with none in the other.55

Epidemiological profiling of CA-MRSA strains in England and Wales over a 2 year period 2004–05 suggests that all were susceptible to clindamycin, trimethoprim, vancomycin, linezolid and mupirocin. <sup>56</sup>

CA-MRSA strains that are erythromycin-resistant (by possession of the *erm* gene) and are initially susceptible to clindamycin can potentially develop resistance to clindamycin during therapy. The global reported rates of such inducible resistance vary from 2% to 94%. A double disc diffusion test (D-test) can be used to determine whether clindamycin-susceptible CA-MRSA strains harbour inducible resistance.<sup>57</sup> The local laboratory should perform a D-test.

In severe infections with features of toxic shock or necrotizing fasciitis, there is a theoretical case for using two or three agents such as linezolid combined with clindamycin and rifampicin. This is based on *in vitro* synergy<sup>58</sup> and the ability of linezolid and clindamycin to inhibit toxin production.<sup>58,59</sup> [GPP]. A D-test should be performed if clindamycin is used. Existing MRSA treatment guidance does not recommend three agents but rather linezolid with rifampicin as initial therapy.<sup>4</sup>

#### **Recommendation 10**

- Because of the absence of evidence of rising prevalence of CA-MRSA in the UK and the lack of unequivocal evidence that inappropriate antimicrobial therapy alters outcome, there is no need to change existing empirical therapy recommendations (below) for nonsevere presumed *S. aureus* infections. [C<sup>3</sup>].
- In the UK, the recommended community treatment for suspected MSSA infections is oral flucloxacillin 500– 1000 mg 6 hourly (or oral clindamycin 300–450 mg 6 hourly in penicillin allergic patients); 5–7 days of treatment is normally sufficient.
- If the patient is known to be MRSA-positive OR lesion cultures yield MRSA alone, then community treatment should be either oral doxycycline (contra-indicated in children <12 years) 100 mg 12 hourly, or fusidic acid 500 mg 8 hourly, or trimethoprim 200 mg 12 hourly, each combined with rifampicin 300 mg 12 hourly (see Appendix). Fusidic acid and rifampicin should NOT be used as monotherapy because of the danger of resistance emergence. All these agents can be used in penicillin allergic patients.
- Trimethoprim (combined with sulfamethoxazole) or doxycycline without rifampicin is also effective for ambulatory therapy of MRSA SSTIs.<sup>51</sup> [A1<sup>+</sup>]. Oral linezolid 600 mg twice daily is an alternative option for use 'under expert guidance', but because of its high cost it should be reserved for patients who are not able to take or tolerate the above regimens. Linezolid may not be readily available in primary care pharmacies.
- If Group A streptococcal (GAS) infection is suspected, oral therapy should include an agent active against this organism (β-lactam or clindamycin).
- For severe infections with known or suspected CA-MRSA, start treatment in hospital with parenteral vancomycin, teicoplanin, daptomycin (but not for pneumonia) or linezolid. Tigecycline may also offer broader polymicrobial cover if required. There is no evidence that one agent is superior to another. [GPP].
- In severe infections with features of toxic shock or necrotizing fasciitis, there is a theoretical case for using two or three agents such as linezolid combined with clindamycin and rifampicin.

More detailed guidance in this area is available.<sup>4</sup> A good example of a care pathway for SSTIs has recently been published from Washington, USA (http://www.metrokc.gov/health/providers/epidemiology/MRSA-guidelines.pdf).

#### 6.2 Community-associated and community-onset pneumonia suspected to be due to PVL-producing MRSA (this would apply to PVL-producing MSSA also)

A 37-year-old mother of two young children is admitted to hospital very unwell with a 48 h history of pleuritic chest pain, cough with frank haemoptysis and increasing shortness of breath. Nobody else in the family has been unwell. She was previously healthy, but had a flu-like illness 5 days prior to her rapid deterioration. She had been given amoxicillin the previous day by her GP. She is admitted to hospital with the working diagnosis of community-acquired pneumonia (CAP). Her temperature is  $39.5^{\circ}$ C, respiratory rate is 40/min, white cell count is  $3.7 \times 10^{9}/\text{L}$  and C-reactive protein (CRP) 360 mg/L. Chest X-ray reveals some increased shadowing in both lungs, with fluffy opacities.

#### 6.2.1 What is the likely clinical diagnosis?

This clinical diagnosis is of a community-acquired lower respiratory tract infection, with the unusual feature of severe haemoptysis. Severe CAP with haemoptysis following a flu-like illness could also indicate primary influenza pneumonia, although the absence of family members with flu-like symptoms is against this. The most likely microbial cause of the pneumonia is bacterial and *S. aureus* should be considered as a potential pathogen because of the combination of high CRP and low white cell count in a young patient with haemoptysis. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *S. pyogenes* may also present with a similar picture. The fact that she has worsened on amoxicillin therapy also supports a diagnosis of staphylococcal rather than streptococcal pneumonia. Pulmonary embolus is unlikely because the features of sepsis predominate, but this should be excluded if in doubt.

#### 6.2.2 When to suspect CA-MRSA

6.2.2.1 Clinical presentation. There is nothing in this history to suggest infection with CA-MRSA rather than with CA-MSSA. There are features, however, consistent with PVL-associated staphylococcal disease, including haemoptysis, high respiratory rate and a low white cell count (leucopenia) in the presence of a high CRP and systemic sepsis in a previously healthy individual.<sup>20,60</sup> The presence of blood in sputum should alert the clinician to the possibility of PVL production. Assessing the severity of pneumonia in children or young adults should not include age-dependent scoring systems such as CURB-65 as the score will be misleadingly low.

#### **Recommendation 11**

• Consider a diagnosis of lower respiratory tract infection caused by PVL-producing *S. aureus* in rapidly progressive pneumonia evolving into acute respiratory distress syndrome. A fever of >39°C, respiratory rate of >40 breaths per minute, a tachycardia of >140 beats per minute with haemoptysis and hypotension make the diagnosis likely. The presence of significant haemoptysis and hypotension usually confirms the diagnosis. [ $C^{2+}$ ].

Additional questions should be asked to elicit whether any family members have a history of skin sepsis, any contact with healthcare facilities or are known MRSA carriers.

#### **Recommendation 12**

• Although relatively few patients developing necrotizing pneumonia due to CA-MRSA have a previous history of skin sepsis themselves,<sup>60-64</sup> consider the possibility of CA-MRSA infection if there is a history of recurrent (two or more in 6 months) furuncles or abscesses in

family members or clustering of infections within the household.  $[D^3]$ .

6.2.2.2 Treatment factors. Use of any antibiotic in the past month (versus no use) has been identified as a potential treatment-related risk factor for CA-MRSA SSTI.  $[D^2]$ . However, there are no such data for CA-MRSA pneumonia.

#### **Recommendation 13**

Until further evidence is available, do not discount the possibility of CA-MRSA infection in severe pneumonia on the basis of a lack of history of recent antibiotic therapy.

#### 6.2.2.3 Other risk factors.

#### **Recommendation 14**

• If any of the risk factors outlined in Table 2 are present, especially (in the UK) recent travel to an endemic area such as North America and recent colonization or contact with CA-MRSA, the possibility of CA-MRSA infection should be considered and appropriate investigation and management instituted. [C<sup>2-</sup>].

6.2.2.4 Prevalence of CA-MRSA. The threshold where the prevalence of CA-MRSA in the community becomes an important consideration in determining the choice of empirical antibiotic therapy is uncertain. In the UK, the prevalence of this infection is very low or unknown. Therefore, local variations in prevalence currently have very little influence on the likelihood of an individual patient having CA-MRSA infection.

#### **Recommendation 15**

• Consider the possibility of CA-MRSA infection in severe community pneumonia regardless of the local prevalence of CA-MRSA. [GPP].

#### **Clinical Practice Point**

In this patient, the absence of previous recurrent infections does not lessen the probability that the infection is due to PVL-producing S. aureus. Previous exposure to antibiotics has been recognized as a potential risk factor for HA-MRSA but is not yet identified clearly as a risk for CA-MRSA.<sup>65</sup>

6.2.3 When should specimens be sent for culture?

#### **Recommendation 16**

- Gram's stain and culture should be performed immediately on admission. The Gram stain result may point to the identity of the likely infecting organism. Relative paucity of neutrophils in the Gram stain in a patient with advanced pneumonia, severe haemoptysis and a low white count is supportive of PVL-associated staphylococcal pneumonia. [GPP].
- The 2004 update of the British Thoracic Society (BTS) guidelines recommends taking blood cultures from patients with severe CAP preferably before antibiotic therapy is commenced in patients with a severity

# CURB-65 score of three or above. However, if a diagnosis of CAP has been definitely confirmed, and a patient has no severity indicators or co-morbid disease, then blood cultures may be omitted. $[A^-]$ .<sup>66</sup>

Taking cultures will help to estimate the prevalence of CA-MRSA and rationalize antibiotic treatment. Fewer than 25% of patients with CA-MRSA pneumonia have had positive blood cultures.  $^{64,67-76}$ 

#### 6.2.4 Radiological investigation

Multilobular alveolar infiltrates are still usual in pneumonia due to PVL-producing staphylococci. Compared with pneumonia due to HA-MRSA, they are more likely to cavitate and produce effusions.<sup>61</sup> However, more commonly, acute PVL-related infections produce initially few, if any, chest X-ray changes, leading clinicians to misdiagnose infections as simple exacerbations of bronchitis or asthma.<sup>77,78</sup> Radiological changes develop rapidly, with single or multiple opacities <3 cm diameter being suggestive of staphylococcal infection. Cavitation may appear on serial X-rays and may be detected earlier with ultrasound. However, computed tomography (CT) scanning or magnetic resonance imaging allows the best evaluation of the ongoing pathology, particularly with cystic changes.<sup>74,79</sup> The classical multilobular infiltrates and diffuse multilobar opacities followed by cavity formation may develop after only a few days and are best confirmed with CT.<sup>80,81</sup> Overall, the incidence of complicated pneumonia caused by PVL-producing S. aureus is far higher than with non-PVL-producing strains.

#### **Recommendation 17**

• Consider the possibility of PVL-producing CA-MRSA pneumonia if there are suggestive chest radiological features such as multilobular alveolar infiltrates, cavitation and pleural effusions. [D<sup>3</sup>].

#### 6.2.5 Treatment principles

Owing to the small numbers of cases reported, there is not yet clear evidence that early appropriate antibiotic therapy will improve outcomes in PVL-producing staphylococcal pneumonia. However, with an expected mortality approaching 75%,<sup>60,82</sup> and in line with data from other types of CAP, hospital-acquired pneumonia, ventilator-associated pneumonia and severe sepsis, early intensive care support and appropriate antimicrobial therapy are essential.

#### **Recommendation 18**

- Refer patients with suspected CA-MRSA pneumonia to intensive care as soon as possible. Basic principles of resuscitation should be followed and ventilatory support implemented when clinically necessary. [GPP].
- Pending antibiotic susceptibility results implement empirical antibiotic therapy that covers CA-MRSA as soon as possible. [GPP].

#### 6.2.6 Empirical antibiotic therapy

According to the BTS guidance,<sup>66</sup> patients with severe CAP should receive antibiotics (co-amoxiclav or cefuroxime or

cefotaxime plus a macrolide) within 2 h of hospital admission. [C]. Many current hospital antibiotic policies recommend avoiding cephalosporin use because of the association between these antibiotics and *Clostridium difficile* colitis. The Working Party recommends that the CURB-65 severity scoring tool for CAP should not be applied to young people or children who initially may appear to only have a mild respiratory illness. [GPP].

Unsuspected MRSA caused fatal pneumonia in four Minnesotan children who were initially treated empirically with cephalosporins.<sup>61</sup> Conventional doses of vancomycin may produce inadequate lung concentrations for MRSA infection and, despite high trough serum levels, breakthrough continuous bacteraemia has been reported days into glycopeptide therapy.<sup>79,82</sup>

Antimicrobials effective against MRSA that also decrease exotoxin production, such as clindamycin and linezolid, are theoretically desirable. Clindamycin decreases production of toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 by 95% in stationary-phase cultures<sup>83</sup> and stops the normal peak of  $\alpha$ -toxin production during the late exponential phase of growth.<sup>59</sup> Clindamycin and linezolid both markedly suppress PVL production as staphylococci approach stationary phase and there may be no PVL detectable 12 h after starting treatment.<sup>59</sup> Flucloxacillin is bactericidal, but the low subinhibitory concentrations achievable in vivo in necrotic tissue may further augment PVL toxin and  $\alpha$ -haemolysin production.<sup>59</sup> Subinhibitory concentrations of clindamycin, linezolid and fusidic acid all induce a concentration-dependent decrease of PVL concentration, whereas with low concentrations of oxacillin, the concentration of PVL increases up to 3-fold.84

Various combinations of vancomycin, clindamycin, linezolid, rifampicin and co-trimoxazole have been used in differing doses and combinations in PVL pneumonia cases, with varying degrees of success.<sup>20,79,82–85</sup> Linezolid treatment successes have been reported by several authors.<sup>79–81,86–88</sup> Three of four patients with necrotizing pneumonia clinically failing vancomycin therapy responded to a change to linezolid and rifampicin.<sup>79</sup> Decreased vancomycin susceptibility discouraged the use of vancomycin in two cases.<sup>63,81</sup> A PVL-positive USA300 MRSA strain for which the vancomycin MIC was 2–4 mg/L responded to a combination of linezolid, teicoplanin and rifampicin, although the infected patient was hospitalized for 6 weeks.<sup>81</sup>

Predicting the susceptibility of staphylococci is becoming increasingly difficult and depends largely on the geographical location and clonality of the circulating strains. Most isolates of strain USA300 are resistant only to β-lactams and macrolides, but recently mupirocin, tetracycline, clindamycin and fluoroquinolone resistances have been reported.<sup>89</sup> Twelve of 123 isolates examined contained *tet*K and *erm*C genes, but remained susceptible to doxycycline and minocycline. S. *aureus* isolates resistant to erythromycin but sensitive to clindamycin must be 'D-tested' to exclude inducible clindamycin resistance. Combining clindamycin with linezolid is synergistic *in vitro*.<sup>58</sup> In the UK, pneumonia due to clindamycin-resistant CA-MRSA has not been reported so far and the majority of CA-MRSA are PVL-negative (Angela Kearns, Laboratory of Healthcare-Associated Infection, HPA, personal communication).

Although there is as yet no unequivocal clinical evidence to support the combination of linezolid (intravenous, 600 mg 12 hourly) plus clindamycin (intravenous, 1.2-1.8 g 6 hourly), because of the life-threatening nature of this disease, the

Working Party recommends that consideration be given to using this combination for initial therapy.<sup>90</sup> The combination can be started empirically in a patient with the clinical features listed above AND Gram-positive cocci in clusters in respiratory secretions. Some experts suggest adding rifampicin 600 mg twice daily, based on synergistic activity and intracellular clearance of staphylococci.<sup>91</sup> The potential role of tigecycline (a gly-cylcycline) or tetracyclines in severe necrotizing PVL-associated pneumonia is as yet unclear and daptomycin is not indicated as it is inactivated by lung surfactant.<sup>92</sup>

#### **Recommendation 19**

- The CURB-65 severity scoring tool for CAP should not be applied to young people or children who initially may appear to only have a mild respiratory illness. [GPP].
- If a risk assessment suggests the possibility of CA-MRSA, then empirical therapy for CAP should include cover for CA-MRSA. Consider adding linezolid 600 mg 12 hourly and high dose clindamycin 1.2–1.8 g 6 hourly. If the organism is isolated, check that it is susceptible to clindamycin and the D-test is negative. [GPP]. Some authors have also suggested the routine addition of rifampicin 600 mg twice daily if PVL-positive staphylococcal pneumonia is suspected.<sup>3,90</sup> [GPP]. The roles of ceftobiprole (a cephalosporin with anti-MRSA properties) and tigecycline in this setting have yet to be determined.

#### 6.2.7 Adjunctive therapy options

6.2.7.1 Immunoglobulin therapy (IVIG). IVIG neutralizes the cytopathic effect and pore-formation of PVL *in vitro*, the inhibition being concentration dependent.<sup>93</sup> No randomized controlled trials have been performed to assess the role of immunoglobulin therapy in this setting. It has been used in several patients with PVL-associated pneumonia.<sup>63,77,86,94</sup> The optimal dosage of IVIG is uncertain; 2 g/kg is recommended for streptococcal toxic syndrome,<sup>95</sup> repeated at 48 h if there is still evidence of sepsis or failure to respond. The combination of linezolid and IVIG was effective in a boy with septic arthritis and pneumonia, who was discharged from intensive care to the general ward on day 5.<sup>86</sup>

#### **Recommendation 20**

• Although most supporting evidence is anecdotal, the use of immunoglobulin (IVIG) should be considered in severe sepsis and necrotizing pneumonia known or suspected to be due to *S. aureus*. IVIG should be given at a dose of 2 g/kg, repeating the dose if improvement is not satisfactory. [GPP].

6.2.7.2 Other adjunctive therapy. Anecdotal reports of the usage of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor<sup>96</sup> and extra-corporeal membrane oxygenation<sup>64,94,97</sup> suggest that they are largely unsuccessful. Although of theoretical benefit in very early sepsis, once active haemorrhage has occurred, activated protein C should not be used. It therefore has no role in PVL-associated pneumonia.

#### Review



Figure 2. Management of patient with suspected staphylococcal pneumonia in the healthcare setting. IVIG, intravenous immunoglobulin.

**Recommendation 21** 

## • Based on current available evidence and experience, the Working Party cannot provide guidance on the value of the above adjunct therapies.

Figure 2 provides an algorithm that may help clinicians implement the recommendations related to suspected staphylo-coccal pneumonia.

## 6.3 Healthcare-associated community-onset MRSA skin and soft tissue infection

Although we have chosen the example below, another very common scenario is a recently discharged hospitalized patient who presents with an 'infected leg ulcer' from which MRSA is isolated. The generic guidance and decision-making process provided here should also apply to this scenario.

The district nurse requests a GP to do a home visit on a 73-year-old man. She has been attending the patient regularly

over the last 3 weeks to dress a pressure sore that had developed over the sacrum. The man had recently been in hospital for a revision of his left hip prosthesis. The procedure was complicated by an episode of healthcare-acquired pneumonia and rehabilitation had been slow. He had spent 4 weeks in hospital before discharge and during this time he had developed a 6 cm irregular pressure sore over the sacrum. In the 2 days before the attendance of the GP, the lesion had become slightly larger with an increase in foul-smelling exudate. On the day of the visit, there was now a spreading area of redness (erythema) around the site. Although there was now some pain at the lesion, there were no other systemic signs of infection.

#### 6.3.1 What is the likely clinical diagnosis?

The pressure ulcer in this case would be defined as Grade 3 as it involves full-thickness skin loss with damage or necrosis of the subcutaneous tissues, extending down to, but not penetrating through, the underlying fascia.<sup>98</sup> All such ulcers are colonized with a mixture of organisms. A chronic non-healing ulcer may reflect underlying osteomyelitis. The diagnosis of active infection involving a pressure ulcer must therefore depend upon clinical assessment rather than microbiology culture results. The European Wound Management Association has defined the criteria for recognizing early wound infection and implementing an escalating therapeutic strategy.<sup>99</sup> The overt signs of local infection (Stage 3 involvement) include the discharge of pus with swelling, pain, erythema and local warmth. On examination, the surrounding tissues may appear unhealthy and deteriorating. The principal pathogens associated with active wound infections of pressure ulcers are S. aureus, Streptococcus species, anaerobes and Pseudomonas aeruginosa.<sup>100</sup> The likely diagnosis here is therefore of a locally infected pressure ulcer where S. aureus is one of the most frequently associated pathogens.

#### 6.3.2 When to suspect HA-MRSA

*6.3.2.1 Clinical presentation.* There are no specific clinical appearances or relationships that reliably identify a SSTI lesion as being infected with *S. aureus* or any particular type of *S. aureus.*<sup>44,53</sup> Three types of *S. aureus* are recognized as causing disease in community settings, namely MSSA, CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA. The spectrum of disease caused is similar, with SSTI being the commonest related condition. However, CA-MRSA is more strongly associated with SSTI than HA-MRSA and is more likely to occur in younger patients.<sup>101</sup> Although the appearances of SSTI with these types of pathogen are very similar, CA-MRSA is more often associated with red, raised lesions with a central area of necrosis (see case scenario 1).

#### **Recommendation 22**

• There are no clinical characteristics that allow differentiation between different strains of MRSA infection. [GPP].

*6.3.2.2 Risk factors.* The risk factors associated with HA-MRSA are well defined and include:<sup>44,102,103</sup> advanced age; underlying co-morbidities and severity of illness; inter-institutional transfer of the patient, especially from a nursing home or residence in a long-term care facility; prolonged hospitalization (including a

history of frequent hospital admissions or admission to hospital within the last 6 months); surgery or admission to an intensive care unit within the last 6 months; exposure to invasive devices of all types, especially central venous catheters; previous MRSA colonization/infection or exposure to an MRSA-colonized patient; the presence of extensive wounds and/or burns; and exposure to antimicrobial drugs, especially cephalosporins, fluoroquinolones and macrolides.<sup>47</sup>

The ability of these risk factors to predict the likelihood of HA-MRSA is uncertain. In recently hospitalized (<24 h) patients with staphylococcal bacteraemia, one case-controlled study identified previous MRSA infection or colonization as the strongest predictor of HA-MRSA. In this model, previous MRSA infection or colonization, presence of a central venous catheter, documentation of a skin ulcer or cellulitis at hospital admission were all independently associated with HA-MRSA bacteraemia. The model identified 75% of the cases correctly with a sensitivity of 76% and specificity of 73%.<sup>14</sup> In another cohort study of inpatients with S. aureus bacteraemia, infection with HA-MRSA was associated with prior antibiotic exposure (within 60 days of the bacteraemic episode) [OR 9.2 (95% CI 4.8-17.9)]; presence of decubitus ulcers [OR 2.5 (95% CI 1.2-4.9)], hospital onset [OR 3.0 (95% CI 1.9-4.9)] and history of hospitalization within 6 months of episode of infection [OR 2.5 (95% CI 1.5-3.8)]. In this model, the clinicians first had to identify the bacteraemia as community or hospital onset, then, depending on the risk factors of either prior antibiotic exposure and/or decubitus ulcer, an estimate of the risk of MRSA could be made. Thus, if the infection was community onset, the patient had recent antibiotic exposure and had a decubitus ulcer, the likelihood of MRSA is 91%. This model is limited to a specific cohort of patients from one site, needs broader validation and is applicable only to hospitalized patients with staphylococcal bacteraemia. However, these principles may prove helpful in assessing patients in the community.

#### **Recommendation 23**

• When managing a patient with a community-onset SSTI, the possible involvement of HA-MRSA should be considered and the appropriate risk assessment done. Recent hospitalization, previous MRSA infection or colonization, previous antibiotic exposure and the presence of a decubitus ulcer or wound should alert clinicians to the possibility of HA-MRSA. [D<sup>3</sup>].

#### 6.3.3 When should specimens be sent for culture?

The early diagnosis and treatment of infection in patients with a Stage 3 infected pressure ulcer reduces the risk of complications and leads to improved patient outcomes. Knowing the identity and antimicrobial susceptibility of organisms infecting pressure ulcers is of help when an antimicrobial treatment has failed, when the presence of a resistant pathogen is suspected or when a patient requires screening for a specific organism.<sup>99</sup> Because the presence of MRSA will alter the choice of antimicrobial therapy, it is sensible to culture for MRSA when there is a significant risk and infection is sufficiently severe to warrant systemic therapy. If systemic therapy is not indicated, then there is little benefit from taking a sample except for infection control purposes.

#### **Recommendation 24**

• In an episode of SSTI involving an infected pressure sore or another type of wound infection, a culture should be taken if the condition warrants systemic antimicrobial treatment or for infection control purposes. [GPP].

#### 6.3.4 Treatment principles

The principles of antibiotic therapy are as outlined in scenario 1 and in the Appendix.

- Give appropriate systemic antibiotic treatment guided by laboratory susceptibility results.
- Use appropriate topical antimicrobial and dressing care.
- Implement appropriate surgical adjunctive management.
- Consider the possibility of underlying complications such as osteomyelitis.

#### 6.3.5 Empirical antibiotic therapy

In the majority of such patients, MRSA will have been isolated from a recent microbiological specimen at the time of the consultation and appropriate MRSA treatment can be started. This therapy should be guided by susceptibility results.

#### **Recommendation 25**

- In cases where empirical therapy is required and there are significant risk factors for HA-MRSA, the Working Group recommends starting one of the regimens identified in the Appendix after taking appropriate microbiological specimens. This therapy should be rationalized in light of microbiological culture results. [GPP].
- For severe or more progressive SSTIs, there is as yet no conclusive evidence that empirical therapy covering MRSA leads to improved outcome. However, in severe infections, where a risk assessment suggests the likelihood of HA-MRSA, high-dose empirical therapy against MRSA should be used. [GPP].
- Patients with severe infections should be admitted to hospital where skin and blood cultures should be taken, collections drained, tissues debrided as necessary and parenteral antibiotic therapy started. Appropriate infection control measures should be instigated and urgent consultation made with a local infection specialist. [GPP].
- For severe infections where HA-MRSA might be involved, the Working Party recommends starting the treatment recommended in the Appendix. [GPP]. Wound care should be carried out in the community under strict aseptic technique. Hand hygiene is necessary before and after direct patient contact.
- For further information relating to isolation, screening and decolonization, refer to the guidelines for the control and prevention of MRSA in healthcare facilities.<sup>2</sup>

HA-MRSA carriage constitutes a greater risk for the development of *S. aureus* infection than MSSA carriage.<sup>103</sup> The risk

over an 18 month period of MRSA infection among adult patients harbouring MRSA has been shown to be  $\sim 29\%$ .<sup>104</sup> with 28% of them complicated by bacteraemia and 56% by pneumonia, soft tissue infection, osteomyelitis or septic arthritis. On subsequent admission to hospital, MRSA carriage is associated with an increased risk of sepsis. One study showed that 19% of the patients who were MRSA culture positive from an admission nasal sample subsequently developed infection with MRSA during their hospital stay, compared with 1.5% of cases colonized with MSSA and 2.0% of uncolonized patients.105 Hence, MRSA colonization at admission significantly increased the risk of subsequent S. aureus infection compared with MSSA colonization. There are also data to show that morbidity and mortality are increased with MRSA when compared with MSSA infections, even when controlling for co-morbidities and other risk factors.<sup>106,107</sup> This may be related to the increased risk of initial therapy not covering MRSA. A significant increase in mortality has been found to be associated with MRSA when compared with MSSA bacteraemia [OR 1.93; 95% CI 1.54-2.42; P < 0.001].<sup>106</sup> MRSA infection may also carry an increase in morbidity related to additional days of treatment required resulting in increased hospital stay.<sup>107,108</sup> No strong relationships have been identified with other morbidity outcomes.<sup>109</sup>

Thus, HA-MRSA carriage is associated with an increased risk of infection and morbidity and mortality. However, no such data are available for CA-MRSA. To date, there are no data to support the use of agents to eliminate *S. aureus* colonization in relation to community MSSA or CA-MRSA SSTIs.

#### **Recommendation 26**

• Standard infection control advice should be given to patients with SSTIs due to HA-MRSA. This should include the importance of dressings management, hand decontamination and the avoidance of transfer of infection by, for example, sharing razors, contact sports etc.

#### Acknowledgements

The review of this guideline was initiated by the Specialist Advisory Committee on Antimicrobial Resistance (SACAR), the Department of Health and the HPA. It was undertaken independently by a Working Party of the BSAC in close collaboration with the HPA.

#### **Transparency declarations**

D. N. declares that during the preparation of this document, he was not in the employment of any pharmaceutical firm with interest in the content of the guidelines although he did accept appointments to the advisory boards of Pfizer, Wyeth, Johnson & Johnson and Novartis, and has spoken at symposia supported by them.

M. D. has received honoraria for consultation and speaking symposia from Bayer, Novartis, Arpida and Pfizer.

B. D. C. accepted appointments to the advisory boards of GlaxoSmithKline, Wyeth and Merck Sharp and Dohme, and has spoken at symposia supported by 3M.

G. F. has accepted appointments to the advisory boards of Pfizer, Wyeth and Novartis, and has spoken at symposia supported by them.

R. G. M. has received speaker honoraria from AstraZeneca and Wyeth.

M. M. and D. L. have nothing to declare relevant to this publication.

#### **Comment on editorial process**

This Working Party Report was put out for consultation on 11 October 2007 (consultation period closed on 8 November 2007) and amended in light of the comments prior to its submission to the journal. This consultation exercise replaced the journal's peer review process.

#### Supplementary data

Tables S1 and S2 show the SIGN system used to grade the evidence and recommendations and are available as Supplementary data at *JAC* Online (http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/).

#### References

1. Coia JE, Duckworth GJ, Edwards DI *et al.* Guidelines for the control and prevention of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in healthcare facilities. *J Hosp Infect* 2006; **63** Suppl 1: S1–44.

**2.** Brown DF, Edwards DI, Hawkey PM *et al.* Guidelines for the laboratory diagnosis and susceptibility testing of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA). *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2005; **56**: 1000–18.

**3.** Health Protection Agency. Guidance on the diagnosis and management of PVL-associated *Staphylococcus aureus* infections (PVL-SA) in the UK. *Currently undergoing consultation*. http://www.hpa.org.uk/consultations/2008/pvl.htm (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

4. Gemmell CG, Edwards DI, Fraise AP *et al*. Guidelines for the prophylaxis and treatment of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infections in the UK. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2006; 57: 589–608.

5. Health Protection Agency. Topics A-Z/*Staphylococuus aureus*/ Guidelines. http://www.hpa.org.uk/infections/topics\_az/staphylo/ staphylo\_guidelines.htm (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

**6.** von Eiff C, Becker K, Machka K *et al.* Nasal carriage as a source of *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteremia. Study Group. *N Engl J Med* 2001; **344**: 11–6.

7. Jevons MP. Celbenin-resistant staphylococci. *BMJ* 1961; 1: 124–5.

**8.** Wenzel RP, Nettleman MD, Jones RN *et al.* Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: implications for the 1990s and effective control measures. *Am J Med* 1991; **91**: 221–7S.

**9.** Grundmann H, Aires-de-Sousa M, Boyce J *et al.* Emergence and resurgence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* as a public-health threat. *Lancet* 2006; **368**: 874–85.

**10.** Guidelines for the control and prevention of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in hospitals. http://www.bsac.org.uk/\_db/\_documents/mrsa\_INFECTION\_JUNE\_05.pdf (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

**11.** Revised methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infection control guidelines for hospitals. http://www.his.org.uk/\_db/\_documents/MRSA\_Guidelines\_final\_(revised)\_aug98.doc (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

**12.** Siegel JD, Rhinehart E, Jackson M *et al.* Management of multidrug-resistant organisms in healthcare settings. http://www.cdc. gov/ncidod/dhqp/pdf/ar/mdroGuideline2006.pdf (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

**13.** Adedeji A, Weller TM, Gray JW. MRSA in children presenting to hospitals in Birmingham, UK. *J Hosp Infect* 2007; **65**: 29–34.

**14.** Tacconelli E, Venkataraman L, De Girolami PC *et al.* Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteraemia diagnosed at hospital admission: distinguishing between community-acquired versus healthcare-associated strains. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2004; **53**: 474–9.

**15.** Zetola N, Francis JS, Nuermberger EL *et al.* Community-acquired meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: an emerging threat. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2005; **5**: 275–86.

**16.** Vandenesch F, Naimi T, Enright MC *et al.* Community-acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* carrying Panton–Valentine leukocidin genes: worldwide emergence. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2003; **9**: 978–84.

**17.** Genestier AL, Michallet MC, Prevost G *et al. Staphylococcus aureus* Panton–Valentine leukocidin directly targets mitochondria and induces Bax-independent apoptosis of human neutrophils. *J Clin Invest* 2005; **115**: 3117–27.

**18.** Fridkin SK, Hageman JC, Morrison M *et al.* Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* disease in three communities. *N Engl J Med* 2005; **352**: 1436–44.

**19.** Labandeira-Rey M, Couzon F, Boisset S *et al. Staphylococcus aureus* Panton-Valentine leukocidin causes necrotizing pneumonia. *Science* 2007; **315**: 1130–3.

**20.** Gillet Y, Issartel B, Vanhems P *et al.* Association between *Staphylococcus aureus* strains carrying gene for Panton–Valentine leukocidin and highly lethal necrotising pneumonia in young immuno-competent patients. *Lancet* 2002; **359**: 753–9.

**21.** Voyich JM, Otto M, Mathema B *et al.* Panton–Valentine leukocidin the major virulence determinant in community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* disease? *J Infect Dis* 2006; **194**: 1761–70.

**22.** Holmes A, Ganner M, McGuane T *et al. Staphylococcus aureus* isolates carrying Panton–Valentine leucocidin genes in England and Wales: frequency, characterization, and association with clinical disease. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005; **43**: 2384–90.

**23.** Salgado CD, Farr BM, Calfee DP. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: a meta-analysis of prevalence and risk factors. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003; **36**: 131–9.

**24.** Moran GJ, Krishnadasan A, Gorwitz RJ *et al.* Methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* infections among patients in the emergency department. *N Engl J Med* 2006; **355**: 666–74.

**25.** Frazee BW, Lynn J, Charlebois ED *et al.* High prevalence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in emergency department skin and soft tissue infections. *Ann Emerg Med* 2005; **45**: 311–20.

**26.** King MD, Humphrey BJ, Wang YF *et al.* Emergence of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* USA300 clone as the predominant cause of skin and soft-tissue infections. *Ann Intern Med* 2006; **144**: 309–17.

**27.** Nuno A, Faria NA, Oliveira DC *et al.* Epidemiology of emerging methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in Denmark: a nationwide study in a country with low prevalence of MRSA infection. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005; **43**: 1836–42.

**28.** Wannet WJ, Spalburg E, Heck ME *et al.* Emergence of virulent methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains carrying Panton–Valentine leucocidin genes in The Netherlands. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005; **43**: 3341–5.

29. Fossum AE, Bukholm G. Increased incidence of methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* ST80, novel ST125 and SCCmecIV in the south-eastern part of Norway during a 12-year period. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2006; **12**: 627–33.

**30.** Larsen AR, Stegger M, Goering RV *et al.* Emergence and dissemination of the methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* USA300 clone in Denmark (2000–2005). *Euro Surveill* 2007; **12**: [Epub ahead of print] http://www.eurosurveillance.org/em/v12n02/1202-222.asp.

**31.** Robinson DA, Kearns AM, Holmes A *et al.* Re-emergence of early pandemic *Staphylococcus aureus* as a community-acquired methicillin-resistant clone. *Lancet* 2005; **365**: 1256–8.

**32.** Anon. Hospital-associated transmission of Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL) positive community-assocaited MRSA in the West Midlands. *CDR Wkly* 2006; **16**: 50.

**33.** David MD, Kearns AM, Gossain S *et al.* Community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: nosocomial transmission in a neonatal unit. *J Hosp Infect* 2006; **64**: 244–50.

34. Voss A. Preventing the spread of MRSA. BMJ 2004; 329: 521.

**35.** Millar BC, Loughrey A, Elborn JS *et al.* Proposed definitions of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (CA-MRSA). *J Hosp Infect* 2007; **67**: 109–13.

**36.** Otter JA, French GL. Nosocomial transmission of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: an emerging threat. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2006; **6**: 753–5.

**37.** Miller LG, Perdreau-Remington F, Bayer AS *et al.* Clinical and epidemiologic characteristics cannot distinguish community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection from methicillin-susceptible *S. aureus* infection: a prospective investigation. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007; **44**: 471–82.

**38.** Ellis MW, Hospenthal DR, Dooley DP *et al.* Natural history of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization and infection in soldiers. *Clin Infect Dis* 2004; **39**: 971–9.

**39.** Fervers B, Burgers JS, Haugh MC *et al.* Adaptation of clinical guidelines: literature review and proposition for a framework and procedure. *Int J Qual Health Care* 2006; **18**: 167–76.

**40.** Barton-Forbes M, Hawkes M, Moore D *et al.* Guidelines for the prevention and management of community-associated methicillin resistant *Staphyococcus aureus* (CA-MRSA): a perspective for Canadian healthcare practitioners. *Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol* 2006; **17** Suppl C: 1B–24B.

**41.** AGREE (Appraisal of guidelines research & evaluation). http:// www.agreecollaboration.org/ (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

**42.** Kowalski TJ, Berbari EF, Osmon DR. Epidemiology, treatment, and prevention of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2005; **80**: 1201–7.

**43.** Gorwitz RJ, Jernigan DB, Powers JH *et al.* Strategies for clinical management of MRSA in the community: Summary of an experts' meeting convened by the Centres for Diseases Control and Prevention. 2006. http://www.cdc.gov/NCIDOD/DHQP/pdf/ar/CAMRSA\_ExpMtgStrategies.pdf (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

**44.** Deillit T, Duchin J. Guidelines for evaluation and management of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* skin and soft tissue infections in the outpatient settings. http://www.metrokc.gov/health/providers/epidemiology/MRSA-guidelines.pdf (4 February 2008, date last accessed).

**45.** Hill R, Kearns M, Ellington M *et al.* Algorithmic features to presumptively identify PVL-positive MRSA in individual cases or survey trends in the UK. In: *Abstracts of the 47th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, Chicago, 17–20 September 2007.* Abstract K-1083, p. 349. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, DC, USA.

**46.** Newell PM, Norden CW. Value of needle aspiration in bacteriologic diagnosis of cellulitis in adults. *J Clin Microbiol* 1988; **26**: 401–4.

47. Cohen PR. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus skin infections: a review of epidemiology, clinical features, management, and prevention. Int J Dermatol 2007; 46: 1-11.

**48.** Schneider-Lindner V, Delaney J, Dial A *et al.* Antimicrobial drugs and community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, United Kingdom. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2007; **13**: 994–1000.

**49.** Rajendran PM, Young DM, Maurer T *et al.* Treatment of abscesses in the era of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*—are antibiotics necessary? In: *Program and Abstracts of the 92nd Clinical Congress of the American College of Surgeons (Chicago).* 2006: S59. American College of Surgeons, Chicago, USA.

**50.** Lee MC, Rios AM, Aten MF *et al.* Management and outcome of children with skin and soft tissue abscesses caused by community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2004; **23**: 123–7.

**51.** Miller LG, Spellberg B. Treatment of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* skin and soft tissue infections with drainage but no antibiotic therapy. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2004; **23**: 795. author reply 795-6.

**52.** Ruhe JJ, Smith N, Bradsher RW *et al.* Community-onset methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* skin and soft-tissue infections: impact of antimicrobial therapy on outcome. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007; **44**: 777–84.

**53.** Gorwitz RJ. The role of ancillary antimicrobial therapy for treatment of uncomplicated skin infections in the era of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007; **44**: 785–7.

**54.** Szumowski JD, Cohen DE, Kanaya F *et al.* Treatment and outcomes of infections by methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* at an ambulatory clinic. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007; **51**: 423–8.

**55.** Cenizal MJ, Skiest D, Luber S *et al.* Prospective randomized trial of empiric therapy with trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole or doxycy-cline for outpatient skin and soft tissue infections in an area of high prevalence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007; **51**: 2628–30.

**56.** Kearns AM, Ganner M, Hill RLR *et al.* Community-associated MRSA ST8-SCCmecIVa (USA-300): experience in England and Wales. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2007; **13** Suppl 1: S27.

**57.** Fiebelkorn KR, Crawford SA, McElmeel ML *et al.* Practical disk diffusion method for detection of inducible clindamycin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* and coagulase-negative staphylococci. *J Clin Microbiol* 2003; **41**: 4740–4.

**58.** Ohlsen K, Ziebuhr W, Koller KP *et al.* Effects of sub-inhibitory concentration of antibiotics on  $\alpha$ -toxin (hla) gene expression of methicillin-sensitive and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1998; **42**: 2817–23.

**59.** Stevens DL, Ma Y, Salmi DB *et al.* Impact of antibiotics on expression of virulence-associated exotoxin genes in methicillin-sensitive and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. J Infect Dis* 2007; **195**: 202–11.

**60.** Gillet Y, Vanhems P, Lina G *et al.* Factors predicting mortality in necrotizing community-acquired pneumonia caused by *Staphylococcus aureus* containing Panton–Valentine leukocidin. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007; **45**: 315–21.

**61.** Anon. Four paediatric deaths from community acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*—Minnesota and North Dakota 1997–1999. *MMWR* 1999; **48**: 707–10.

**62.** Torell E, Molin D, Tano E *et al.* Community-acquired pneumonia and bacteraemia in a healthy young woman caused by methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) carrying the genes encoding Panton–Valentine leukocidin (PVL). *Scand J Infect Dis* 2005; **37**: 902–4.

**63.** Salliot C, Zeller V, Puechal X *et al.* Panton–Valentine leukocidin-producing *Staphylococcus aureus* infections: report of 4 French cases. *Scand J Infect Dis* 2006; **38**: 192–5.

**64.** Pogue M, Burton S, Kreyling P *et al.* Severe methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* community-acquired pneumonia associated with influenza, Louisiana and Georgia, December 2006– January 2007. *MMWR* 2007; **56**: 325–9.

**65.** Baggett HC, Hennessy TW, Rudolph K *et al.* Community-onset methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* associated with antibiotic use and the cytotoxin Panton–Valentine leukocidin during a furunculosis outbreak in rural Alaska. *J Infect Dis* 2004; **189**: 1565–73.

**66.** British Thoracic Society. BTS guidelines for the management of community acquired pneumonia in adults—2004 update. http://www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/c2/uploads/MACAPrevisedApr04.pdf (6 February 2006, date last accessed).

**67.** Al-Tawfiq JA, Aldaabil RA. Community-acquired MRSA bacteremic necrotizing pneumonia in a patient with scrotal ulceration. *J Infect* 2005; **51**: 241–3.

**68.** Garnier F, Tristan A, Francois B *et al.* Pneumonia and new methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* clone. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2006; **12**: 498–500.

**69.** Gonzalez BE, Teruya J, Mahoney DH *et al.* Venous thrombosis associated with staphylococcal osteomyelitis in children. *Pediatrics* 2006; **117**: 1673–9.

**70.** Jeyaratnam D, Reid C, Kearns A *et al.* Community associated MRSA: an alert to paediatricians. *Arch Dis Child* 2006; **91**: 511–2.

**71.** Jones TF, Creech CB, Erwin P *et al.* Family outbreaks of invasive community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *Clin Infect Dis* 2006; **42**: 76–8.

**72.** Ma XX, Galiana A, Pedreira W *et al.* Community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, Uruguay. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2005; **11**: 973–6.

**73.** Mongkolrattanothai K, Boyle S, Kahana MD *et al.* Severe *Staphylococcus aureus* infections caused by clonally related community-acquired methicillin-susceptible and methicillin-resistant isolates. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003; **37**: 1050–8.

**74.** Moyaasita T, Schimamoto Y, Mishiya H *et al.* Destructive pulmonary embolism in a patient with community acquired staphylococcal bacteraemia. *J Infect Chemother* 2002; **8**: 99–102.

**75.** Nimmo GR, Playford EG. Community-acquired MRSA bacteraemia: four additional cases including one associated with severe pneumonia. *Med J Aust* 2003; **178**: 245.

**76.** Peleg AY, Munckhof WJ, Kleinschmidt SL *et al.* Life-threatening community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in Australia. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 2005; **24**: 384–7.

**77.** Banthia S, Meka VG, Pillai SK *et al.* A fatal case of necrotizing pneumonia caused by community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. Infect Dis Clin Pract* 2005; **13**: 132–8.

**78.** Honarpour N, Mao JT. A case of fatal community-acquired necrotizing pneumonia caused by Panton-Valentine leukocidin positive methicillin-sensitive *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Curr Resp Med Rev* 2007; **3**: 49–51.

**79.** Micek ST, Dunne M, Kollef MH. Pleuropulmonary complications of Panton–Valentine leukocidin-positive community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: importance of treatment with antimicrobials inhibiting exotoxin production. *Chest* 2005; **128**: 2732–8.

**80.** Monaco M, Antonucci R, Palange P *et al.* Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* necrotizing pneumonia. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2005; **11**: 1647–8.

**81.** Tronci M, Parisi G, Pantosti A *et al.* CA-MRSA strain with decreased vancomycin susceptibility as a cause of serious invasive infection in an immunocompetent adolescent. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2007; **13** Suppl 1: S449.

82. Wargo KA, Eiland EH. Appropriate antimicrobial therapy for community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* 

carrying the Panton-Valentine leukocidin genes. *Clin Infect Dis* 2005; **40**: 1376-8.

**83.** van Langevelde P, van Dissel JT, Meurs CJ *et al.* Combination of flucloxacillin and gentamicin inhibits toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 production by *Staphylococcus aureus* in both logarithmic and stationary phases of growth. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1997; **41**: 1682–5.

**84.** Dumitrescu O, Boisset S, Badiou C *et al.* Effect of antibiotics on *Staphylococcus aureus* producing Panton–Valentine leukocidin. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007; **51**: 1515–9.

**85.** Francis JS, Carroll K, Nuermberger E *et al.* Authors reply. *Clin Infect Dis* 2005; **40**: 1378–9.

**86.** Hampson FG, Hancock SW, Primhak RA. Disseminated sepsis due to a Panton–Valentine leukocidin producing strain of community acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and use of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. *Arch Dis Child* 2006; **91**: 201.

**87.** Martin BT, Palasanthiran P, Gosbell IB *et al.* Severe childhood pneumonitis caused by the Queensland strain of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. Med J Aust* 2005; **182**: 249.

**88.** Lopez-Aguilar C, Perez-Roth E, Moreno A *et al.* Association between the presence of the Panton–Valentine leukocidin-encoding gene and a lower rate of survival among hospitalized pulmonary patients with staphylococcal disease. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007; **45**: 274–6.

**89.** Han LL, McDougal LK, Gorwitz RJ *et al.* High frequencies of clindamycin and tetracycline resistance in methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* pulsed-field type USA300 isolates collected at a Boston ambulatory health center. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007; **45**: 1350–2.

**90.** Morgan MS. Diagnosis and treatment of Panton–Valentine leukocidin (PVL)-associated staphylococcal pneumonia. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2007; **30**: 289–96.

**91.** Yamaoka T. The bactericidal effects of anti-MRSA agents with rifampicin and sulphamethoxazole-trimethoprim against intracellular phagocytosed MRSA. *J Infect Chemother* 2007; **13**: 141–6.

**92.** Silverman JA, Mortin LI, Vanpraagh AD *et al.* Inhibition of daptomycin by pulmonary surfanct: *in vitro* modelling and impact. *J Infect Dis* 2005; **191**: 2149–52.

**93.** Gauduchon V, Cozon G, Vandenesch F *et al.* Neutralization of *Staphylococcus aureus* Panton–Valentine leukocidin by intravenous immunoglobulin *in vitro. J Infect Dis* 2004; **189**: 346–53.

**94.** Agwu A, Brady KM, Ross T *et al.* Cholera-like diarrhea and shock associated with community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (USA400 clone) pneumonia. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2007; **26**: 271–3.

**95.** Darenberg J, Soderquist B, Normark BH *et al.* Differences in potency of intravenous polyspecific immunoglobulin G against strepto-coccal and staphylococcal superantigens: implications for therapy of toxic shock syndrome. *Clin Infect Dis* 2004; **38**: 836–42.

**96.** Torbin E, Andersson O, Kasemo AU *et al.* PVL-positiva Staph Aureus gav nekrotiserande pneumoni. *Lakartidningen* 2007; **7**: 509–13.

**97.** Adem PV, Montgomery CP, Husain AN *et al. Staphylococcus aureus* sepsis and the Waterhouse Friedrichsen syndrome in children. *N Engl J Med* 2005; **353**: 271–2.

**98.** Grey JE, Enoch S, Harding KG. Pressure ulcers. *BMJ* 2006; **332**: 472–5.

**99.** Moore Z, Romanelli M. Topical management of infected grade 3 and 4 pressure ulcers. European Wound Management Association (EWMA). Position Document: *Management of wound infection*. London: MEP Ltd, 2006.

**100.** Sanada H, Nakagami H, Romanelli M. Identifying criteria for pressure ulcer infection. European Wound Management Association (EWMA). Position Document: *Identifying criteria for wound infection*. London: MEP Ltd, 2005.

**101.** Naimi TS, LeDell KH, Como-Sabetti K *et al.* Comparison of community- and healthcare-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *JAMA* 2003; **290**: 2976–84.

**102.** Safdar N, Maki DG. The commonality of risk factors for nosocomial colonization and infection with antimicrobial-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, enterococcus, Gram-negative bacilli, *Clostridium difficile*, and *Candida. Ann Intern Med* 2002; **136**: 834–44.

**103.** Kluytmans J, van Belkum A, Verbrugh H. Nasal carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus*: epidemiology, underlying mechanisms, and associated risks. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 1997; **10**: 505–20.

**104.** Huang SS, Platt R. Risk of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection after previous infection or colonization. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003; **36**: 281–5.

**105.** Davis KA, Stewart JJ, Crouch HK *et al.* Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) nares colonization at hospital admission and its effect on subsequent MRSA infection. *Clin Infect Dis* 2004; **39**: 776–82.

**106.** Cosgrove SE, Sakoulas G, Perencevich EN *et al.* Comparison of mortality associated with methicillin-resistant and methicillin-susceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteremia: a meta-analysis. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003; **36**: 53–9.

**107.** Engemann JJ, Carmeli Y, Cosgrove SE *et al.* Adverse clinical and economic outcomes attributable to methicillin resistance among patients with *Staphylococcus aureus* surgical site infection. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003; **36**: 592–8.

**108.** Hardy KJ, Hawkey PM, Gao F *et al.* Methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in the critically ill. *Br J Anaesth* 2004; **92**: 121–30.

**109.** Graffunder EM, Venezia RA. Risk factors associated with nosocomial methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infection including previous use of antimicrobials. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2002; **49**: 999–1005.

**110.** Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Guideline 88. Management of suspected bacterial urinary tract infections in adults. http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/published/numlist.html (6 February 2008, date last accessed).

#### Appendix. Summary of treatment recommendations for MRSA infections in the community

Before treating, clinicians may wish to seek advice of a local microbiologist.

#### A. Patients with SSTIs

- (a) Follow local guidelines for treating SSTIs, for example flucloxacillin or clindamycin for minor SSTI without systemic upset. If the patient is febrile, appears unwell or is toxic with SSTI, consider assessment in hospital.
- (b) Swab the lesion if purulent exudate is present.
- (c) If MRSA is suspected because of previous colonization/isolation, or surgical/healthcare-related, it is very important to collect a microbiology sample.
- (d) If MRSA is isolated or strongly suspected, treat with:
  - Rifampicin\* (300 mg po twice daily) PLUS sodium fusidate (500 mg thrice daily) OR doxycycline (100 mg po twice daily) (doxycycline not recommended for paediatric use) for 5-7 days.
  - Rifampicin (300 mg po twice daily) PLUS trimethoprim (200 mg po twice daily) for 5–7 days.
  - Linezolid<sup>†</sup> (600 mg po twice daily) following discussion with Consultant Microbiologist or Infectious Disease physician.

\*When rifampicin is used please consider drug interactions, e.g. warfarin, methadone, hormone contraceptives, theophylline etc.

<sup>†</sup>Linezolid is an expensive alternative and may not be readily available at community pharmacies.

*Note*: if GAS infection is suspected, oral therapy should include an active agent against this organism ( $\beta$ -lactam or clindamycin). Tetracyclines and trimethoprim, although active against MRSA, are not recommended for suspected GAS infections.

#### **B.** Serious and deep-seated MRSA infections

The Working Party recommends that suspected serious and deep-seated MRSA infections are assessed and treated in hospital. This includes suspected bacteraemia and staphylococcal pneumonia as in Scenario 2. Refer to MRSA treatment guidelines for more detail.<sup>4</sup>

#### **B1.** For MRSA pneumonia (+/- PVL), treat with:

• Linezolid (600 mg intravenous 12 hourly) PLUS clindamycin (1.2–1.8 g intravenous 8 hourly) +/- rifampicin (600 mg intravenous 12 hourly).

**B2.** For other deep-seated MRSA infections, such as bacteraemia, osteomyelitis, abscesses, endocarditis, and including those infections caused by PVL-producing CA-MRSA, treat with:

- *First-line*: Either teicoplanin (400–800 mg intravenous every 24 h (following loading) or vancomycin (1 g intravenous 12 hourly) PLUS one of the following: gentamicin (5–7 g/kg intravenous once daily), rifampicin (300 mg po twice daily) or sodium fusidate (500 mg po thrice daily).
- Second-line: Linezolid (600 mg intravenous/po 12 hourly)
- *Alternative*: Daptomycin (4 mg/kg intravenous once daily). Licensed for SSTIs, and for bacteraemia and right-sided endocarditis due to *S. aureus*.
- *Alternative*: Tigecycline (100 mg loading dose followed by 50 mg intravenous twice daily). Licensed for complicated SSTIs.

#### Notes:

- (a) Assessment in hospital likely to be required.
- (b) Bone and joint infections may require a prolonged course of treatment.
- (c) Monitor serum vancomycin/teicoplanin and gentamicin concentrations (for example adjust doses to achieve trough concentrations for teicoplanin of 10–20 mg/L and for vancomycin of 10–15 mg/L).

#### C. MRSA in urine

The Working Party believes that while this area is not covered in a clinical scenario in the text, it is often a frequently encountered clinical problem. The Working Party felt that recommendations are warranted to provide guidance for practice in the community.

- Antibiotics are unlikely to clear MRSA in the presence of a urinary catheter. There is no good evidence that catheter changes need to be covered with appropriate antibiotic prophylaxis to prevent catheter-related urinary tract infections.<sup>110</sup>
- A significant MRSA urinary tract infection with systemic symptoms and the presence of white cells in the urine is

likely to require systemic antibiotic treatment. [GPP]. The Working Party recommends that in patients with normal renal function (children excluded), doxycycline (100 mg twice daily) or tetracycline (250–500 mg 6 hourly) should be used. Trimethoprim (200 mg 12 hourly) or nitrofurantoin (50–100 mg four times a day for 5–7 days) could be alternatives.<sup>4</sup>